SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDAT I L E D

DAVID KUHNLEIN, et al.,

Appellants/Plaintiffs,

vs.

SEP 11 1996 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Case No. 88,266

Offer Deputy Clark

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE; et al.,

Appellees/Defendants.

District Court of Appeal, Fifth District - No. 96-378

APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF

Christopher K. Kay
Florida Bar No. 0385931
Michael J. Beaudine
Florida Bar No. 0772763
KAY, PANZL & LATHAM
390 N. Orange Avenue, Suite 600
Orlando, Florida 32801
(407) 481-5800

-and-

W. Gordon Dobie
Bruce R. Braun
WINSTON & STRAWN
35 West Wacker Drive
Chicago, Illinois 60601-9703
(312) 558-5600

Attorneys for Appellants/ Plaintiffs

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS.

Class Plaintiffs commenced this action on August 6, 1992, seeking a declaration that the Florida Vehicle Impact Fee, § 319.231, Florida Statutes,¹ violated the United States Constitution, and an order requiring a refund of all monies collected under § 319.231. [R 10]. On November 30, 1993, the trial court issued a Final Summary Judgment for the Class Plaintiffs. [R 1522]. The trial court found that "[t]he impact fee patently discriminates against interstate commerce by making a distinction between otherwise similar motor vehicles based solely on the vehicles' origin outside the state. This facial discrimination renders the entire statute unconstitutional. . . " [R 1543-44]. The trial court further held that "the commerce clause violation alone is sufficient to require a refund in this case because the court is unable to provide any other clear and certain remedy as a matter of law." [R 1544].

Based on its findings, the trial court declared that § 319.231 was unconstitutional and "invalid <u>ab initio</u>," it enjoined the State of Florida from further enforcing § 319.231 and from "collecting the impact fees purportedly authorized thereunder," and it ordered the State to "refund the impact fees actually paid by each plaintiff in this case." [R 1544]. The trial court specifically held that its order of a full refund was "final". [R 1544].

The trial court's Final Summary Judgment for the Class Plaintiffs was automatically stayed by the filing of the State's appeal thereof on December 2, 1993. [R 1567]. On December 3, 1993, Class Plaintiffs moved the trial court to vacate the stay, or in the alternative, to escrow the fees collected under § 319.231 in an interest-bearing account during the pendency of the appeal. [R 1387,

Section 319.231 imposed an "impact fee" of \$295 on "each original certificate of title issued for a motor vehicle previously titled outside of this state." Section 319.231 took effect on July 1, 1991.

1398]. The State objected, and the trial court denied the Class Plaintiffs' motion at a hearing on December 16, 1993. [R 1422, 1476]. The State therefore continued to collect the Impact Fee under § 319.231 while its appeal was pending.

In a unanimous 6-0 opinion rendered on September 29, 1994, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the Final Summary Judgment for the Class Plaintiffs in its entirety. <u>Department of Revenue v. Kuhnlein</u>, 646 So. 2d 717 (Fla. 1994)("<u>Kuhnlein I</u>"). This Court agreed with the trial court that "the Florida impact fee does in fact result in discrimination against out-of-state economic interests in contravention of the Commerce Clause." <u>Id.</u> at 724. In addition, the Court ruled as follows:

As the trial court below noted, the impact fee was void from its inception because the legislature acted wholly outside its constitutional powers. The only clear and certain remedy is a full refund to all who have paid this illegal tax. The result reached by the trial court and its refund order therefore are approved. <u>Id.</u> at 726.

On December 8, 1994, Class Plaintiffs moved the trial court for a final determination of the amount of postjudgment interest to be paid on the refunds due the Class. [R 1695]. At the same time, Class Plaintiffs separately moved to recover prejudgment interest on the monies to be refunded. [R 1685]. Class Plaintiffs served Reply Briefs in support of their respective motions on February 8, 1995. [R 1914, 1882].

The trial court conducted a hearing on Class Plaintiffs' Motion for Final Determination of Postjudgment Interest and Class Plaintiffs' Motion for Prejudgment Interest on February 10, 1995. During that hearing, the trial court directed the parties to file supplemental briefs on the issue of which postjudgment interest rate applies to this case, the flat rate of 12% per annum set forth in § 55.03(1), Florida Statutes (1993), or the adjustable rate set forth in § 55.03(1), Florida Statutes (1994 Supp.). [R 1974]. Class Plaintiffs then submitted their Supplemental Brief in support of their

Motion for Final Determination of Postjudgment Interest on February 17, 1995. [R 1920]. Class Plaintiffs' Supplemental Brief argued that the flat postjudgment rate of 12% per annum provided by § 55.03(1), Florida Statutes (1993), applies to the Final Summary Judgment for the Class Plaintiffs entered on November 30, 1993.

In the State's Response to the Court's Questions on the Timing and Rate of Interest dated February 17, 1995, the State conceded that the flat 12% postjudgment rate, not the new adjustable rate, applies to all judgments entered before January 1, 1995. [R 1943]. Pursuant to the trial court's request, Class Plaintiffs then served a Second Supplemental Brief in Support of their Motion for Final Determination of Postjudgment Interest on March 9, 1995. [R 1974, 1977].

On April 5, 1995, the trial court entered a Final Order on Class Plaintiffs' Motion for Postjudgment Interest and a Final Order on Class Plaintiffs' Motion for Prejudgment Interest, denying both. [R 2023, 2026]. In denying prejudgment interest, the trial court refused to apply the standard adopted by the Florida Supreme Court whereby a plaintiff may recover prejudgment interest from the State, despite sovereign immunity, when the equities so warrant. [R 2026]. The trial court also denied postjudgment interest based on its denial of prejudgment interest, despite the trial court's acknowledgment that § 55.03, Florida Statutes, "normally awards postjudgment interest when a party recovers a sum of money." [R 2024].

On April 11, 1995, Class Plaintiffs appealed from those Final Orders. In a per curiam opinion rendered on June 9, 1995, the Florida Supreme Court approved the trial court's denial of prejudgment and postjudgment interest. Kuhnlein v. Department of Revenue, 662 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 1995)("Kuhnlein II"). With respect to postjudgment interest, the Court explained that "there is not a final money judgment, and therefore there is not at present an entitlement to postjudgment interest

in this case under these circumstances." <u>Id.</u> at 308. This Court then relinquished jurisdiction, ordering the trial court to "finalize this action by determining and entering an order as to attorney fees and costs to be paid out of the common fund". <u>Id.</u>

Pursuant to <u>Kuhnlein II</u>, Class Counsel submitted a Petition for Fees and Expenses which the trial court considered during an evidentiary hearing conducted on July 6-7, 1995. [R 2342-2410]. On July 13, 1995, the trial court entered a 17-page Final Judgment on Class Plaintiffs' Petition for Fees and Expenses, awarding Class Counsel a 10% fee from the common fund created by Class Counsel's efforts. [R 3234-51]. In addition, the trial court ordered the State to pay any unclaimed impact fees (the "residual") to the claiming Class Members in a second distribution in order to fully or partially offset the attorneys' fee award, with Class Counsel then receiving an additional 10% of the remaining residual, and the State receiving any amount remaining thereafter. [R 3150-52].

Upon review, the Florida Supreme Court reduced the attorneys' fee award from 10% of the common fund (or approximately \$18.8 million) to a lodestar-based fee of \$6,477,467.50. Kuhnlein v. Department of Revenue, 662 So. 2d 309, 315 (Fla. 1995)("Kuhnlein III"). The Court ordered that the attorneys' fees and costs be paid to Class Counsel out of the common fund within thirty days, with the balance of the common fund to then be paid to Class Members. Id. The Court further affirmed the trial court's order for a second distribution to partially or fully offset the amount paid by each Class Member for attorneys' fees and costs, but held that any residual remaining thereafter "shall become part of the State's general fund." Id.

Following <u>Kuhnlein III</u>, approximately 578,500 claimants have received refunds issued by the State (as of August 7, 1996). [Composite Exhibit "A", Appendix]. Most of those refunds were issued in late November 1995, with the balance issued in stages on a monthly basis thereafter. Id.

As of August 7, 1996, approximately \$7.75 million was yet to be refunded to approximately 27,500 claimants. Id. The State has made "minimal progress" over the last several months in issuing these remaining refunds. Id. Thus, while it has long been expected that the State will retain a residual of approximately \$9.5 million after the issuance of all refunds, the State's continual delays in processing and issuing the aforementioned \$7.75 million claims may increase the potential residual to over \$17 million. Id.

Indeed, as reflected in the Status Report submitted by the Impact Fee Refund Steering Committee dated as of December 6, 1995, the State has substantially delayed the refund process:

Generally, the claimants who have been paid are those whose applications did not present any problems in processing. Those applications for which the State encountered any problems are still in various stages in processing, awaiting authorization. These approximately 115,000 claimants have not yet been paid because the State delayed addressing the problems in processing the populations of claimants which were not authorized upon initial receipt and processing of their applications. Many of these claimants mailed their applications in November and December 1994 and the State has known these problems since early 1995. In so doing, the State delayed performing certain critical scheduled events and activities which would have addressed those problems and were included in the original Plan approved by the Court. These had to be performed earlier than they are now being performed if refunds were to be paid to most of this remaining population in 1995. [R 3457]. [See also R 3411 (reporting "numerous delays and inactions by the State in initiating and implementing the refund plan"); Composite Exhibit "A", Appendix (reporting that the DHSMV "has accomplished very little by way of refunding claimants since . . . June 7, 1996")].

The State has not paid any interest on any of the refunds to date. On November 17, 1995, Class Plaintiffs moved for postjudgment interest pursuant to <u>Kuhnlein II</u>. [R 3391-97; Exhibit "B", Appendix]. The trial court denied Class Plaintiffs' Motion for Postjudgment Interest in a Final Order dated January 30, 1996. [R 3532-36; Exhibit "C", Appendix]. In denying postjudgment interest, the trial court relied upon its prior decision [R 2023], and also held that it could not award postjudgment

interest because the total amount of the impact fees to be refunded was never reduced to a "definitive monetary amount." [R 3536]. Class Plaintiffs took this appeal on February 7, 1996. [R 3537].

II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT.

Class Plaintiffs are entitled to recover postjudgment on their refunds from at least July 13, 1995, the date of the trial court's Final Judgment on Class Plaintiffs' Petition for Fees and Expenses. First, the Florida Supreme Court ruled in <u>Kuhnlein II</u> that postjudgment interest was at that time inappropriate because the open issue of Class Counsel's attorneys' fees deprived the refund judgment in favor of the Class of finality. The Florida Supreme Court then ordered the trial court to "finalize" this action by determining the attorneys' fees to be awarded Class Counsel. The trial court accomplished this end on July 13, 1995, when it entered its Final Judgment. Accordingly, under this Court's mandate in <u>Kuhnlein II</u>, postjudgment interest on the refunds should have been payable since July 13, 1995, the date on which the trial court finalized this action.

Further, Florida law provides that postjudgment interest begins to accrue from the date a judgment is entered adjudicating that a party is entitled to recover a sum of money, regardless of when the actual amount of recovery is finally determined. In this case, Class Plaintiffs should recover postjudgment interest on the refunds which were first ordered by the trial court in its Final Summary Judgment for the Class Plaintiffs in November 1993, and which were later finalized in the trial court's Final Judgment dated July 13, 1995. The trial court fundamentally erred by finding that postjudgment interest cannot accrue until a final judgment sets forth the total amount of all the refunds to be paid by the State. Such a determination is immaterial to the postjudgment interest that accrues on each individual refund issued by the State -- which are fixed sums, based upon which one may easily make ministerial calculations of postjudgment interest.

Finally, § 55.03, Fla. Stat. (1995), clearly provides that a judgment "shall" bear interest. The Florida Supreme Court has consistently held that postjudgment interest must be awarded under § 55.03 without exception. The trial court's denial of postjudgment interest conflicts with well-settled Florida law that requires application of § 55.03 to all judgments against all parties, including the State.

III. STATEMENT OF THE LAW AND ARGUMENT.

A. The Florida Supreme Court's ruling in <u>Kuhnlein II</u> mandates an award of postjudgment interest to Class Plaintiffs.

In <u>Kuhnlein II</u>, the Florida Supreme Court denied postjudgment interest based on its determination that "there is not a final money judgment, and therefore there is not <u>at present</u> an entitlement to postjudgment interest in this case under these circumstances." <u>Kuhnlein II</u>, 662 So. 2d at 308 (emphasis added). This Court relinquished jurisdiction to the trial court and ordered the trial court to "<u>finalize</u> this action by determining and entering an order as to attorney fees and costs to be paid out of the common fund and entering an order to implement the refund plan approved by the circuit court." <u>Id</u>. (emphasis added).

Pursuant to this Court's instructions in <u>Kuhnlein II</u>, the trial court then conducted an evidentiary hearing on the issues of attorneys' fees, costs and the refund plan. Subsequently, on July 13, 1995, the trial court entered a Final Judgment on Class Plaintiffs' Petition for Fees and Expenses, and a Cost Judgment in favor of Class Plaintiffs [R 3234-51; 3252-54]. In addition, the trial court entered a separate Order on Refund Plan, approving and implementing the refund plan presented to the trial court at the evidentiary hearing. [R 3261-63]. The trial court thus "finalized" this action by ruling on the outstanding issues of attorneys' fees, costs, and the refund plan, all in accordance

with <u>Kuhnlein II</u>. The trial court fulfilled all aspects of the Florida Supreme Court's remand order in <u>Kuhnlein II</u>. Indeed, this Court later acknowledged that the trial court fully complied with its instructions in <u>Kuhnlein II</u>. See <u>Kuhnlein III</u>, 662 So. 2d at 310.

Because the trial court "finalized" this action by resolving all remaining issues identified in Kuhnlein II, Class Plaintiffs are entitled to recover postjudgment interest at a minimum from July 13, 1995. Class Plaintiffs were previously denied postjudgment interest in Kuhnlein II because at that time there was not a "final money judgment" according to this Court. This action was not yet "final" due to the issues of fees and costs that were still outstanding at that time. Accordingly, the trial court was instructed to "finalize" this action by resolving those issues. The trial court did so, thereby fulfilling all of the stated conditions for an award of postjudgment interest under Kuhnlein II. As of July 13, 1995, there was nothing more that the Class Plaintiffs or the trial court could do to "finalize" this action. Consistent with the Florida Supreme Court's decision in Kuhnlein II, Class Plaintiffs must recover postjudgment interest from the date the trial court finalized this action, July 13, 1995.

In its Final Order denying postjudgment interest, the trial court reflected a fundamental misunderstanding of Kuhnlein II. The trial court simply quoted Kuhnlein II's approval of its denial of postjudgment interest, without setting forth any of this Court's reasoning therein. The trial court thus mischaracterized Kuhnlein II as having somehow approved the trial court's unprecedented linkage of the recovery of postjudgment interest to the recovery of prejudgment interest. [R 3535]. However, the Florida Supreme Court has never held, in Kuhnlein II or in any other case, that the standards for the recovery of postjudgment and prejudgment interest are identical. Indeed, this Court

and others have expressly recognized that an award of postjudgment interest is <u>not</u> dependent on an award of prejudgment interest. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Palm Beach County v. Town of Palm Beach</u>, 579 So. 2d 719, 720 (Fla. 1991); <u>Lewis v. Anderson</u>, 382 So. 2d 1343, 1343 n.1 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); <u>Miller v. Agrico Chem. Co.</u>, 383 So. 2d 1137, 1139-40 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980). As the First District Court of Appeal recently noted, while this Court expressly ruled in <u>Kuhnlein II</u> that there may be no entitlement to prejudgment interest on a tax refund, this Court "did <u>not</u> hold that there cannot be post-judgment interest on a tax refund." <u>Department of Revenue v. Brock</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D1120 (Fla. 1st DCA May 7, 1996) (*emphasis added*). Thus, the trial court simply failed to adhere to <u>Kuhnlein II</u>'s mandate for the recovery of postjudgment interest herein.

B. Florida law provides that postjudgment interest begins to accrue from the date of judgment adjudicating entitlement to a sum of money.

The trial court's Final Order denying postjudgment interest also reflects a fundamental misunderstanding of the triggering event for accrual of postjudgment interest. The trial court based its denial of postjudgment interest on its finding that "Class Plaintiffs never during the life of the case reduced the total amount of the impact fee refund to a definitive monetary amount." [R 3536]. However, it is the entry of a judgment adjudicating the entitlement to a sum of money, not the entry of a judgment fixing the actual amount of money to be recovered, that triggers an award of postjudgment interest from the date of the judgment determining entitlement.

Several Florida cases have applied the principle that postjudgment interest accrues upon the determination of entitlement to recover refunds and other sums of money. For instance, in <u>City of Miami Beach v. Jacobs</u>, 341 So. 2d 236 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976), <u>cert. denied</u>, 348 So. 2d 945 (Fla. 1977), <u>cert. denied</u>, 434 U.S. 939 (1977), the trial court entered a judgment holding that an ordinance

which imposed certain "fire line charges" was invalid, and ordering that the members of a class that challenged that ordinance were entitled to repayment by the city of such charges which were paid by them pursuant to the ordinance. Following the city's unsuccessful appeal from that judgment, the trial court ordered the city to pay postjudgment interest on the refunds from the date of entry of the original judgment. The city challenged that ruling on appeal, and the Third District Court of Appeal affirmed, finding:

We find no error in the provision of the order which conferred upon the members of the class interest on the amounts to which the court found the city was obligated to reimburse them. The interest provided for by the court was that which would accrue from the time of the entry of the judgment determining the plaintiffs were entitled to refunds from the city, as provided for by Section 55.03, Florida Statutes. <u>Id.</u> at 238 (emphasis added).

Under the decision in City of Miami Beach, Class Plaintiffs would ordinarily be entitled to recover postjudgment interest on their refunds from November 30, 1993, the date on which the trial court determined that Class Plaintiffs were entitled to receive those refunds. However, the Florida Supreme Court in Kuhnlein II denied postjudgment interest pending the trial court's resolution of the issues of attorney's fees and costs. Once those issues were resolved, and this action thereby "finalized" under Kuhnlein II, nothing remained to stand in the way of Class Plaintiffs' recovery of postjudgment interest. Postjudgment interest began to accrue as of July 13, 1995, upon the entry of a judgment determining that Class Plaintiffs were entitled to a full refund of the impact fees that they had paid the State, subject to Class Counsel's recovery of fees and expenses from the common fund.

The fact that the fees awarded to Class Counsel were later reduced by this Court (in Kuhnlein III), which then finally fixed the exact amounts of the refunds to be paid to Class Plaintiffs, does not affect the accrual of postjudgment interest from the date on which entitlement was

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