ORIGINAL

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

OCT 4 1996

CLERK SUPPLIFICATION

DAVID KUHNLEIN and SCOTT ENOS, BARBARA BLANCHARD, JOEL CURRAN, and KATHERINE CURRAN, both individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Appellants,

VS.

Case No. 88,266

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE;

et al.,

Appellees.

APPELLEES' ANSWER BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ERIC J. TAYLOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar No. 0337609

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol, Special Projects Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (904) 488-5899 (904) 488-6589 (FAX)

Counsel for Appellees

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

The conclusion that a tax refund is not a money judgment is firmly based on the historical

view of taxes. Justice Oliver Wendell Holmes, Jr. wrote that, "Taxes are what we pay for civilized society." Compania General De Tobacos De Filipinas v. Collector of Internal Revenue, 275 U.S. 87, 100, 48 S.Ct. 100, 105 (1927). Following Justice Holmes' characterization of taxes, this Court has recognized that the payment of a tax is an obligation not based on contract, and is not a debt in the usual sense of the word. St. Lucie Estates v. Ashley, 105 Fla. 534, 141 So. 738, 739 (1932).

Section 55.01, Florida Statutes (1995), provides that a money judgment may be entered where a party recovers "a sum of money, the amount to which he or she is entitled" and "without any distinction being therein made as to whether such sum is recovered by way of debt or damages." If the law does not view a tax payment as a debt or an obligation required based on a contract, then the converse is true; a government's refund of tax money is not the payment of a debt or payment of damages for a breach of contract. A tax refund, is rather, the return of money overpaid to the State Treasury. Because a tax refund is not the government paying a debt or damages, an order granting a tax refund is not a "money judgment" as defined under Section 55.01, Florida Statutes. Consequently, Section 55.03, Florida Statutes (1995), which outlines the procedure for the Comptroller to follow in establishing the amount of interest to be paid on judgments, is not applicable to tax refunds.

The conclusion that a tax refund is not a "money judgment" is further supported by comparing tax refunds with instances where the courts have awarded interest against the State pursuant to Section 55.03, Florida Statutes. See Pan-Am Tobacco Corp. v. Department of Corrections, 471 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1984), and Treadway v. Terrell, 117 Fla. 838, 158 So. 512 (1935) (Contracts), Florida Livestock Board v. Gladden, 86 So. 2d 812 (Fla. 1956) (tort injury), Roberts

<u>v. Askew</u>, 260 So. 2d 492 (Fla. 1972) (business dealings like a private party - real estate). Even cases like <u>Palm Beach County v. Town of Palm Beach</u>, 597 So. 2d 719 (Fla. 1991)(wrongful withholding of tax moneys from town), are money judgments.

In contrast, a tax refund is neither a payment of a debt nor an award for damages, but rather the return of overpaid funds. Because a tax refund does not represent payment of a debt or damages, it is clear that tax refunds are not "judgments" subject to Chapter 55, Florida Statutes.

Thus, tax refunds are not subject to the interest provisions of Section 55.03, Florida Statutes.

Appellants' reliance, as well as some district court of appeals' reliance, on <u>Palm Beach</u> County v. Town of Palm Beach, 579 So. 2d 719 (Fla. 1991)⁴/ (<u>Palm Beach II</u>), must be carefully examined. Because a "tax" was involved in <u>Palm Beach II</u>, Appellants have distorted the meaning of this Court's holdings and reasoning. An examination of <u>Palm Beach II</u> shows that it did not consider the issue at hand (whether a trial court should grant postjudgment interest in a tax refund case) in any manner. The facts in <u>Palm Beach II</u> show that Palm Beach County assessed ad valorem taxes pursuant to Section 336.59, Florida Statutes (1983), for the purpose of maintaining roads and bridges.⁵/ Under the statute, a portion of the ad valorem taxes went from the County to the municipalities within the county. <u>Id</u>. at 719. The Town of Palm Beach sued Palm Beach County challenging the insufficiency of the county's levies and prevailed. <u>Id</u>. at 720.

⁴/ See, Dryden v. Madison County, 21 Fla. Law Weekly D587, D588 (Fla. 1st DCA March 5, 1996), review pending, FSC, Case No. 87,594; and, State of Florida, Department of Revenue v. Brock, 21 Fla. Law Weekly D1120 (Fla. 1st DCA May 7, 1996), review pending, FCS, Case No. 88,434.

^{5/} Section 336.59, Florida Statutes (1983), was repealed October 1, 1984.

On appeal, the district court affirmed the trial court's conclusion that the county's levies were insufficient. Id at 720 (citing Palm Beach County v. Town of Palm Beach, 507 So. 2d 128, 130(Fla. 4th DCA 1986)(Palm Beach I)). On remand, the trial court entered a stipulated amount that the county was to pay to the municipality, but made no allowance for interest. Id On appeal, the district court affirmed the trial court, and certified the question of whether "a governmental entity [is] immune from the payment of postjudgment interest under the doctrine of sovereign immunity?" Id at 719-20.

This Court answered the certified question in the negative, and held that Section 55.03, Florida Statutes, which "expressly provides for postjudgment interest without listing any exception to its application" applied to that case. Id at 720. This Court rejected the County's argument that it was protected from postjudgment interest by sovereign immunity. Specifically, this Court found that the question of governmental immunity from suit was resolved in Palm Beach I, and was not appealed, and thus, was not properly before the court. Id at 720. Further, this Court held that "[a]lthough in tort actions, the exercise of a purely governmental function may appropriately raise the defense of sovereign immunity from liability, it is not a defense to the award of interest where the county's liability has been determined." Id at 720 n. 3. Thus, this Court held that "[o]nce the governmental entity has fully litigated the issue of its immunity and has lost on the merits, we see no reason why it should be shielded from paying interest on the judgment simply because the prevailing party is another governmental entity." Id. at 721.

The <u>Palm Beach II</u> opinion does not overturn this Court's long-line of cases holding denying interest awards in tax refund cases. The <u>Palm Beach II</u> opinion, rather is consistent with this Court's decision to award interest against a governmental entity when the facts show that

government acted in a proprietary manner or when equitable considerations require.

First, the facts in <u>Palm Beach II</u> show that the county illegally withheld money from the municipality. Consequently, <u>Palm Beach II</u> involved a municipality's "tort" claim against the county. Under Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, it is proper to award interest for tort claims; thus, the awarding of postjudgment interest based on the facts in <u>Palm Beach II</u> is in line with other cases involving the award of interest against the State for torts and contract breaches, i.e., <u>Broward County v. Finlayson</u>, 555 So. 2d 1211 (Fla. 1990), <u>Roberts</u>, <u>supra</u>, <u>Florida Livestock</u> <u>Board</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Treadway</u>, <u>supra</u>.

After this Court determined that the issue was a tort matter to which interest could be awarded against a governmental body, this Court was correct in turning to Section 55.03, Florida Statutes. Palm Beach County, 579 So. 2d, at 720. Next, the assessment of interest against the county in Palm Beach II is also consistent with the Mailman line of cases awarding interest where the facts show that there was a clear legal right to funds and an inequitable denial of the funds. The facts in Palm Beach II showed "deliberate acts on the part of the county to circumvent the tax-sharing mandate of Section 336.59, Florida Statutes." 579 So. 2d, at 720. Section 336.59 gave the Town of Palm Beach the clear legal right to funds collected by Palm Beach County. Because Palm Beach County deliberately tried to circumvent the tax sharing mandate of Section 336.59, this Court properly awarded interest based on the County's "inequitable conduct." Thus, it is clear that the result in Palm Beach II is consistent with the Mailman line of cases.

In contrast to the facts in <u>Palm Beach II</u>, tax refund cases do not involve the State committing a "tort" against the taxpayer, the State breaching a contract with a taxpayer, or the

State acting inequitably by wrongfully withholding tax refunds. The State in collecting taxes, which are subsequently challenged, is not committing a "tort" or breaching a contract with the taxpayer. In fact, Section 72.011(3), Florida Statutes, requires that a taxpayer contesting the legality of a tax, penalty, and accrued interest assessed by the Department of Revenue in circuit court must first pay the uncontested amount, and second, pay the disputed amount into court registry, or file a cash bond or surety for the amount of the contested assessment. See Department of Revenue v. Nu-Life Health and Fitness Center, 623 So. 2d 747 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). This statutory requirement that taxpayer pay the tax before challenging the assessment or tax statute does not constitute a "tort" or contract breach, if a court subsequently invalidates the tax.

Furthermore, absent the clear legal right to the refund, the Comptroller and Department of Revenue are not committing a "tort" or acting inequitably by denying a taxpayer's refund request based on the challenge that a taxing statute is invalid. "Clear legal right," in the case of a tax refund, can only come after the litigation has reached its final conclusion. As the Court stated in Mailman:

To repeat, the amount ultimately to be paid was throughout the litigation in doubt. Whether the Comptroller should refund any or all of it could not have been divined by that officer and <u>that being the case</u>, we have found no room for the play of equitable principles relative to unjust enrichment of the state at the expense of its citizens, or failure of the state to deal fairly with them.

<u>Id.</u>, at 269. It is only after all the doubt is removed can interest even be considered.

Before a court rules that a taxing statute is invalid, the Comptroller and the Department of Revenue must follow the well established rule that the legislature's acts are presumed valid. See Maison Grande Condominium Ass'n, Inc. v. Dorten, Inc., 600 So. 2d 463, 465 (Fla.

1992)(holding that "Florida law has long recognized 'that a statute found on the statute books must be presumed to be valid and given effect until it is judicially declared unconstitutional'") (quoting City of Sebring v. Wolf, 105 Fla. 516, 519, 141 So. 736, 737 (1932)). Consequently, it is clear the Comptroller and Department of Revenue were not acting inequitably by refusing to pay a taxpayer's initial request for a refund. Because considerations of "tort" and inequitable conduct generally do not apply in tax refund cases, the rule of law in Palm Beach II is not applicable. Thus, this Court should decline to extend Palm Beach II for the imposition of interest on tax refund cases.

Appellants' reliance on <u>Simpson v. Merrill</u>, 234 So. 2d 350 (Fla. 1970), for the proposition that interest may be awarded in tax refund cases is misplaced. In <u>Simpson</u>, this Court addressed whether the district court of appeal erred in assessing costs against a state agency where the facts show that taxpayers challenged an assessment against their land, and the taxpayers received some of the relief sought. 234 So. 2d at 351. This Court found that Section 57.041, Florida Statutes, "provides for legal costs by the party recovering the judgment in all cases except those specifically exempted", and that Section 57.041, Florida Statutes, did not include an exception for the State. <u>Id</u> Consequently, this Court held that "[w]hen, through litigation, these [governmental] demands are determined to be unlawful, the government, like any other party, should be compelled to pay the costs of litigation." <u>Id</u>.

The Appellants' argument infers that because Section 55.03, Florida Statutes, like the statute in <u>Simpson</u>, does not contain language excluding the State from interest awards, the State should be subject to interest like any other party. The petitioners' argument is without merit because it is premised on the erroneous assumption that a tax refund is a "money judgment." As

explained earlier, a tax refund is not a "money judgment", and thus, Section 55.03, Florida

Statutes, is not applicable to tax refunds. Because Section 55.03 is not applicable to tax refunds, the petitioners cannot infer that this general section authorizes interest awards in tax refunds.

Thus, the petitioners' reliance on <u>Simpson</u> is misplaced.

- B. SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY PREVENTS THE AWARD OF INTEREST IN TAX REFUND CASES, ABSENT A WAIVER.
- 1. Sovereign immunity prevents the award of interest against the State.

The principle of sovereign immunity is based on the broad grounds of fundamentals in government. State ex rel. Charlotte County v. Alford, 107 So. 2d 27, 29 (Fla. 1958). In fact, the Florida Constitution has a specific provision which permits the legislature to waive the State's sovereign immunity. Art. X, Section 13, Fla. Const.; see also Circuit Court of the Twelfth Judicial Circuit v. Department of Natural Resources, 339 So. 2d 1113, 1114-1115 (Fla. 1976)(citing Spangler v. Florida State Turnpike Authority, 106 So. 2d 421 (Fla. 1958); Hampton v. State Board of Education, 90 Fla. 88, 105 So. 323 (1925)).

Florida courts have explained that sovereign immunity's purpose is to protect from the government from encroachments on the public treasury, <u>Jaar v. University of Miami</u> 474 So. 2d 239, 245 (Fla. 3rd DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 484 So. 2d 10 (Fla. 1985) (<u>citing Spangler</u>, 106 So. 2d at 424), and provide for an orderly administration of government. <u>Berek v. Metropolitan Dade</u>

<u>County</u>, 396 So. 2d 756 (Fla. 3rd DCA), <u>app'd</u>, 422 So. 2d 838 (Fla. 1981).

In furthering these public policies, this Court has recognized that sovereign immunity should be liberally construed⁶, and that the legislature's statutory waiver of the State's sovereign

^{6/} State Road Department of Florida v. Tharp, 146 Fla. 745, 1 So. 2d 868, 869 (1941).

immunity must be clear and unequivocal, ⁷/ Rabideau v. State, 409 So. 2d 1045, 1046 (Fla. 1982). In addition, the courts have held that the statutes waiving sovereign immunity must read the narrowly and construed *strictly in favor* of the State. <u>Tampa-Hillsborough County</u>

<u>Expressway Authority v. K.E. Morris Alignment Service, Inc.</u>, 444 So. 2d 926, 928 (Fla. 1983);

<u>Carlile v. Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission</u>, 354 So. 2d 362 (Fla. 1977).

Consequently, the State's waiver of sovereign immunity is limited in its scope to the narrowest of interpretation and can be extended no further than the conditions and limitations prescribed by the legislature in its grant of consent. State ex rel. Florida Dry Cleaning and Laundry Board v. Atkinson, 136 Fla. 528, 188 So. 834, 838 (1939); Valdez v. State Road Department, 189 So. 2d at 824 (citation omitted).

Thus, in addressing sovereign immunity claims, this Court must determine: 1) whether the legislature expressly and unequivocally waived the State's sovereign immunity; and 2) if the waiver exists, the narrow scope of the waiver in light of the public policies of fiscal planning and orderly administration of government.

The law is clear that sovereign immunity prevents a court from awarding interest against

The State would assert to this Court that the test for finding a waiver of the State's immunity under Florida be no less rigorous that than the standard used by the United States Supreme Court, "express and textual". The State suggests that the standard for a court finding that the legislature waived sovereign immunity matches the standard used by the United States Supreme Court when determining congressional abrogation or waiver of the states' Eleventh Amendment immunity; "a clear legislative statement" of a waiver. Seminole Tribe of Florida v. Florida, ____ U.S. ____, ___, 116 S.Ct. 1114, 1123 (1996); Blatchford v. Native Village of Noatak, 501 U.S. 775, 786, 111 S.Ct. 2578, 2584-2585 (1991); Dellmuth v. Muth, 491 U.S. 223, 227-233, 109 S.Ct. 2397, 2400-2403 (1989)(holding that Congress may waive the states' immunity "only by making its intention unmistakedly clear in the language of the statute."). See also, Alford, supra.

the government unless the legislature consents to interest awards by statute, or where the state stipulates to interest awards in a lawful contract entered into by an executive officer. <u>United States v. North Carolina</u>, 136 U.S. 211, 216, 10 S.Ct. 920, 922 (1890); <u>Treadway</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Flack</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>State v. Family Bank of Hallandale</u>, 623 So. 2d 474, 479 (Fla. 1993).

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